DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

É	of OF Co	D
	* * *	
**		**
A CO	(A) 05 108	
~	OF WILL	7

Clerk of the Court Received 08/26/2024 11:35 PM Filed 08/26/2024 11:35 PM

Appeal No: 24-cv-58	
Daisy Dixon)
on behalf of the General Public of the) Civil Action below
District of Columbia) 2022-CAB-003969-B
Plaintiff/Appellant,)
- Annual Appendix)
v.)
John Paul Mitchell Systems,)
Defendant/Appellee)

APPEAL FROM FINAL JUDGMENT

OPENING BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT DAISY DIXON

Thomas C. Willcox, Attorney at Law DC Bar No 445135 1701 16th Street, N.W. Suite 211 Washington DC 20009 Tel: 202.239.2762

T.C. 202.234.0892 thomaswillcox@willcoxlaw.com.co

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Plaintiff-Appellant Daisy Dixon ("Dixon" or "Appellant"), by and through her counsel, individually and on behalf of the General Public of the District of Columbia, files this appeal from the final judgment of the trial court dated January 2nd, 2024 dismissing the action on the motion to dismiss in favor of John Paul Mitchell Systems, Defendant-Appellee herein ("JPMS" or "Appellee"). Pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721 (a)(1) (2001), Dixon filed a Notice of Appeal on January 17th 2024 Pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721 (a)(1) (2001), Dixon now files this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (a) Whether the trial court erred in finding that *Mostofi v. Mohtaram, Inc.*, No. 2011 CA 163 B, 2013, D.C. Super. LEXIS 12 (D.C. Sup. Ct. Nov. 12, 2013), is inapplicable on the criteria for establishing tester standing because *Mostofi* "was silent on the interpretation of D.C. Code § 28-3905 (k)(1)(B)" (Order at 6.), and in finding that plaintiff therefore cannot rely on it for that purpose. The trial court reasoned that unlike the plaintiff in *Mostofi*, who 'tested the contents' of the extra virgin olive oil at issue in that case, in this case, according to the trial court, the plaintiff has not unlike Mostofi "pled facts supporting a finding that she conducted any testing or evaluation of the Product itself' (Order at 7).
- (b) Whether the trial court erred in finding that Plaintiff "has not proffered that she purchased the Product for purposes of conducting independent testing" (*Id*).
- (c) Whether the trial court erred in rejecting Plaintiff's position that "[t]he statute does not on its face require that a plaintiff have tested the bottle she purchased in order to have standing, contrary to Defendant's assertion" (*Id.* at 8).

- (d) Whether the trial court erred in stating that "Plaintiff does not allege that she conducted any ... evaluation of the Product or demonstrated any capacity to test the product to determine its benzene content" (*Id.* at 9).
- (e) Whether the trial court erred in granting Defendant's motion to dismiss on the grounds that Plaintiff has not satisfied the criteria for standing at this stage of the litigation under D.C. Code \$28-3905 (k)(1)(B) by purchasing a sample of the Product and relying on testing by UC Davis showing impermissible contamination of the Product, but without herself yet testing the sample she purchased.
- (f) Whether the trial court erred in ruling that "Mostofi is silent on the interpretation of D.C. Code \$28-3905(k)(1)(B) as it applies to tester standing under the CPPA" (Id. at 7, emphasis in original).
- (g) Whether the trial court erred in its ruling on the criteria for standing that the plaintiff have tested the sample she purchased, even in market circumstances where some but not all samples of the Product may not be contaminated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 10th of July 2023, Plaintiff filed this case in DC Superior Court alleging violations of the DC Consumer Protection Act and breach of warranty in the sale of dry shampoo which a national forensic firm had tested and found random samples containing a carcinogen, benzene. Two day later, Appellant filed an Amended Complaint. On September 27th, 2023, JPMS moved to dismiss the case, alleging primarily that the Plaintiff had failed to perform "testing," which, JPMS alleged, the DC Consumer Protection required the Plaintiff to perform on the product. Plaintiff responded primarily that because the claim was that had the DC general public known of random incidents of benzene appearance in the

product, they would not have purchased the product. Therefore, testing by the plaintiff was not relevant: Whether testing on one product produced a positive or negative response, had the report indicating random presence been disclosed, the DC general public would have been deterred.

On January 2nd 2024, Judge McKenna dismissed the complaint, on the grounds Plaintiff lacked standing because she had to test or evaluate the product prior to filing the complaint.

STATEMENTS OF THE FACTS

A. The Facts as Alleged in the Amended Complaint.

- 1. Plaintiff-Appellant Daisy Dixon is a resident of the District of Columbia. App 12.
- 2. Defendant-Appellee JPMS is a California corporation with a principal place of business in Santa Clarita, California. JPMS is an American manufacturer of hair care products and styling tools through several brands including Paul Mitchell, which it sells online and in stores throughout the United States. JPMS manufactures, markets, advertises, labels, distributes, and sells its dry shampoo, including the Products. *Id*.

B. The Dixon Purchase

3. On March 31st, 2023, Plaintiff Dixon purchased a 4.7 oz. bottle of the Product through "Beauty Care Choices" for \$30.95. App 13-14.

C. Product Testing

- 4. Dry shampoo products are considered cosmetics that are regulated by the FDA. App 21
- 5. On October 31, 2022, Valisure, an analytical pharmacy and consumer protection organization located in New Haven, Connecticut, petitioned the FDA to address dangerous levels of benzene in dry shampoos based upon rigorous testing the organization had conducted on a number of dry shampoo products. App 21. For all of the products tested, Valisure utilized standard, accepted methods of gas chromatography-mass spectrometry

- ("GC-MS") methods of measurement to determine the levels of benzene. *Id.* Further, Valisure had two brands which it had previously tested using GC-MS along with the other brands tested for the presence of benzene by Syft Technologies at its mobile lab in San Francisco using Syft's SIFT-MS mass spectrometry technology. *Id.*
- 6. Syft Technologies describes itself as "The world leader in real-time, direct injection mass spectrometry." APP 21. Syft was founded in 2002 and has over 150 professionals in 7 countries. Syft is considered the world leader in real-time, direct injection mass spectrometry with more than 20 years of SIFT-MS expertise. Syft instruments support a broad range of industries worldwide including semiconductor manufacturing, pharma and CDMOs, environmental protection, automotive, food, flavor and fragrance, and many more." *See* syft.com/about/. *Id*.
- 7. In its petition, Valisure explains that the SYFT-MS technology yields more accurate results than the standard, accepted GC-MS measurement technology, in that the latter typically understates the benzene concentration found in tested samples. Thus, Valisure states,
 - Although GC-MS is an industry standard approach and was utilized by Valisure in this Petition, the sample preparation required in GC-MS analysis may allow some benzene to escape detection and, therefore, potentially underestimate the amount of contamination. By contrast, SIFT-MS does not require sample preparation, thereby enabling real-time quantitative analysis of dry shampoo spray directly, allowing the investigation of real-world conditions and the potential risks consumers are exposed to with these kinds of contaminated products. (App 22)
- 8. In the petition, Valisure also explains certain refinements of its CG-MS testing that it undertook prior to the testing detailed in the petition to prevent earlier identified breakdown of suspected analytes resulting from higher GC over temperatures, as follows:
 - [...] Valisure has noted in previous FDA Citizen Petitions that some GC-MS methodologies can lead ingredients to break down into suspected

analyte due to elevated GC oven temperatures. Valisure identified such a situation in its September 13, 2019 FDA Citizen Petition regarding the drug ranitidine, and Valisure therefore developed modifications to the existing methodologies to lower temperature and prevent degradation. The GC-MS methodologies described in this petition utilized body temperature (37°C) for oven incubation. 40°C has been previously used for benzene analysis from liquid pharmaceuticals and beverages, and reduced false positive results compared with higher-temperature incubation. (App 22)

- 9. The GC-MS benzene testing detailed in Valisure's October 31st, 2022 petition was performed in the First Quarter of 2022. *Id*.
- 10. Using this GC-MS measurement, Valisure "analyzed 148 unique batches [lots] from 34 brands of dry shampoo products." Valsisure found that certain dry shampoo products, including some of the Products, contain benzene, with values up to 158 parts per million ("ppm"). *Id*.
- 11. In its petition, Valisure first shows data from the GC-MS analysis of benzene by directly sampling contaminated air after spraying dry shampoo products, which suggests the potential for short- and long-term inhalation exposure to high levels of benzene. App at Cite The presence of this known human carcinogen in dry shampoo products that are regularly used indoors and in large volumes makes this finding especially troubling. App 23
- 12. Among other GC-MS results showing benzene in the Defendant's dry shampoos in particular (among other dry shampoos), Valisure found concentrations in the JPMS Brunette Dry Shampoo variety purchased by Ms. Dixon's first spray of 2.88 and 2.15 ppm, which exceed the 2 ppm previously described permissible level. Also on first spray analysis, Valisure found three samples of the Product to contain 2.2, 2.9 and 35 ppm benzene, respectively (App 23).
- 13. As noted above, in addition, Valisure sought confirmation of its GC-MS results through

testing of two dry shampoo brands.¹ To be clear, Valisure had previously tested the same bottles of these brands using GC-MS technology. Valisure did so because of the alleged loss of analyte in GC-MS testing process. Thus, Valisure explains,

Although there are observed inconsistencies in dry shampoo products, the comparison of the SIFT-MS to GC-MS analysis of the <u>same bottles</u> with subsequent sprays and other bottles of the same brand, suggests that the GC-MS method described in this Petition may significantly underestimate the concentrations of benzene in such aerosol products. The SIFT-MS direct analysis system that eliminates sample prep appears to detect benzene in these aerosol products at approximately 10 - 50 times higher concentrations. *Id*.

14. In particular, Syft found a benzene concentration of 345 ppm for Demert's Not Your Mother's (NYM) dry shampoo upon first spray SYFT-MS testing. This contrasted with an average benzene concentration of 35.31 ppm using GC-MS measurement of first spray testing for 26 analyzed NYM bottles, and with an average concentration of 20.11 ppm using GC-MS measurement of subsequent spray testing for the 26 bottles. Similarly Syft found a benzene concentration of 67 ppm for Batiste's dry shampoo upon first spray SYFT-MS testing. This contrasted with an average benzene concentration of 1.46 ppm using GC-MS upon first spray testing for 27 bottles. Thus, for each brand the Syft results were markedly higher than the GC-MS results. App 23.

D. Benzene Carcinogenicity

15. Benzene is used primarily in the chemical and pharmaceutical industries, as a starting material and intermediate in the synthesis of numerous chemicals, and in gasoline. The major United States source of benzene is petroleum. The health hazards of benzene have been recognized for over 100 years. App 24.

1

16. According to the National Toxicology Program ("NTP"), benzene is "known to be a human carcinogen based on sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity from studies in humans." App at cite. Benzene has also been "found to be carcinogenic to humans" by the International Agency for Research on Cancer ("IARC"). Benzene was "[f]irst evaluated by IARC in 1974 . . . and was found to be carcinogenic to humans (Group 1), a finding that has stood since that time." As noted by the IARC:

In the current evaluation, the Working Group again confirmed the carcinogenicity of benzene based on sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in humans, sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals, and strong mechanistic evidence. . . . In particular, benzene is metabolically activated to electrophilic metabolites; induces oxidative stress and associated oxidative damage to DNA; is genotoxic; alters DNA repair or causes genomic instability; is immunosuppressive; alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply; and modulates receptormediated effects.

App 24-25.

- 17. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ("CDC") states that the Department of Health and Human Services has determined that benzene causes cancer in humans. App at cite. The World Health Organization ("WHO") and the IARC have classified benzene as a Group 1 compound, thereby defining it as "carcinogenic to humans." App 25.
- 18. The FDA currently recognizes the high danger of this compound and lists it as a "Class 1 solvent" that "should not be employed in the manufacture of drug substances, excipients, and drug products because of their unacceptable toxicity. . . However, if their use is unavoidable in order to produce a drug product with a significant therapeutic advance, then their levels should be restricted" and benzene is restricted under such guidance to 2 ppm. App 25.
- 19. The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health ("NIOSH") recommends

- protective equipment be worn by workers expecting to be exposed to benzene at concentrations of 0.1 ppm and defines "inhalation, skin absorption, ingestion, skin and/or eye contact" as exposure routes. App 25-26.
- 20. As previously stated, the subject Products are considered cosmetics, which the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act defines by their intended use, as "articles intended to be rubbed, poured, sprinkled, or sprayed on, introduced into, or otherwise applied to the human body . . . for cleansing, beautifying, promoting attractiveness, or altering the appearance[.]" Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act 21 U.S. Code § 201(i). "Cosmetic companies have a legal responsibility for the safety of their products and ingredients." App 26.
- 21. The Products are not drugs and contain no active pharmaceutical ingredient for therapeutic purposes. App at cite Thus, *any* amount of benzene is unacceptable and should not be employed in the manufacture of the Products. App 26.
- 22. The Plaintiff alleges Defendant's failure to control for benzene contamination and minimized notification of the importance and risks of benzene in its adulterated Products constitute unfair and deceptive conduct. App 28.
- 23. The manufacture of any misbranded or adulterated cosmetic is prohibited under federal law and District of Columbia law. *Id*.
- 24. The introduction into commerce of any misbranded or adulterated cosmetic is similarly prohibited. *Id*.
- 25. The receipt in interstate commerce of any adulterated or misbranded cosmetic is also unlawful. *Id*.
- 26. Among the ways a cosmetic may be adulterated are:

If it consists in whole or in part of any filthy, putrid, or decomposed substance; ... whereby it may have been rendered injurious to health.

App 27.

- 27. The Complaint alleged that Defendant did not disclose that benzene, a known human carcinogen, is present in the Product purchased by Plaintiff. As a result of benzene contamination in the Products, they are considered adulterated and misbranded. The FDA instructs that there is no safe level of benzene, and thus it "should not be employed in the manufacture of drug substances, excipients, and drug products because of [its] unacceptable toxicity." *Id*.
- 28. The Complaint further alleged that Defendant advertised and sold the Products without any labeling to indicate to consumers that these products contain benzene, as indicated in the image at App 15 which is illustrative of the labels on that and other Defendant's dry shampoo products purchased by the DC General Public. Plaintiff noted that the labeling on the back of the bottle contains "Warnings," none of which are for the presence of a carcinogenic ingredient.
- 29. The Complaint contends that the potential presence of benezene in the product renders them worthless. App 27.

E. The Court's Dismissal of the Action

- 30. The Trial Court first contended that the scope of D.C. Code Section 28-3905(k)(1), the representative action statute setting forth "tester standing" was modified after the decision in Grayson v. AT&T Corp., 15 A.3d 218 (D.C. 2011). App 38.
- 31. In particular, the Trial Court took note of the 2012 Report of the City Council which resulted in additional provisions for non-profit and public interest organizations other than

individual standing. App 39. The Trial Court noted phrases of the legislative history of the Report that, the Trial Court evidently believed, required the plaintiff in a Representative Action to engage in testing:

New subsection (k)(1)(B) provides a right of action for consumers who act as product or service testers. Such consumers need not actually have been misled by a misrepresentation regarding a consumer good or service to have suffered an injury-in-fact giving rise to an actionable claim. As the amendment to section 3901(c) makes clear, the CPPA establishes an enforceable right to truthful information from merchants in their marketing of consumer goods and services. Subparagraph (B) authorized these individuals to bring an action on their own behalf, for the good or service they purchase or receive for the purpose of testing it without running afoul of a smattering of decisions denying standing based on notions of 'self-inflicted harm' or 'manufactured standing.'

App 39 (emphasis by trial court).

- 32. The Trial Court contended that the above indicated that the Plaintiff had to actually test the purchased product in order to have standing. *Id*.
- 33. Further, the Trial Court contended the fact that the plaintiff in *Mostfi* had actually testing the products he purchased (even if that was not mentioned in the opinion) distinguished that case.

Plaintiff's reliance on Mostofi and interpretation of tester standing is otherwise misplaced. First, Defendant correctly points out that the *Mostofi* defendant did not raise the issue of whether such specific testing was required and that as a result, *Mostofi* is silent on the interpretation of D.C. Code § 28-3905 (k)(1)(B) as it applies to tester standing under the CPPA. Second, the plaintiff in *Mostofi* alleged that he conducted independent testing in the complaint. . . . Plaintiff here has not proffered that she purchased the Product for purposes of conducting independent testing or has in fact engaged in any testing of the Product purchased. Therefore, *Mostofi* is not applicable, as Plaintiff has not pled facts supporting a finding that she conducted any testing or evaluation of the Product herself, unscientific or otherwise.

App 40 (cleaned up).

34. Next, the Trial Court referenced Praxis Project v. Coca-Cola Co., No. 2017 CA 004801 B, 2019 D.C. Super. LEXIS 17 (D.C. Super. Ct. Oct. 1, 2019), in which two pastors and a non-profit health advocate organization— alleged that a soft drink manufacturer made false, deceptive, and misleading representations about the nutritional content of sugar-sweetened beverages in violation of the CPPA. The plaintiffs alleged in their complaint that they purchased defendant's sugar-sweetened beverages for the purposes of evaluating and testing the products sugar content and potential effects on blood sugar. Id. at *4. The Court found that the plaintiffs lacked standing under D.C. Code § 28-3905 (k)(1) in the absence of any showing that the plaintiffs engaged in testing of the product "in any way that relates to the allegations of misleading statements in advertising at issue here." Id. at *22. In reaching this conclusion, the Court found the Praxis plaintiffs' claims that they evaluated the product by viewing the alleged misrepresentations on the packaging, such was insufficient to constitute evaluation:

According to the 2012 DCCPPA Amendment Committee Report, "tester standing" was created to allow consumers who offer to purchase, or actually purchase, products or services with the intent of determining whether those products or services are what they claim to be, to file suits against untruthful merchants. . . . The report states that "consumers need not actually have been misled by a misrepresentation regarding a consumer good or service to have suffered an injury-in-fact giving rise to an actionable claim." Id. at 4. The report further states that like the testers in Havens and Molovinsky, D.C. consumers must be allowed to offer to purchase, or actually purchase, products or services with the intent of determining whether those products or services are what they claim to be.

App 40.

35. Citing this language, Judge McKenna concluded that "although the D.C. Council noted that the 2012 amendments were to help actual testers avoid running afoul of notions of "manufactured standing," "where no relevant testing or evaluation was actually done, the

assertion of standing based on testing in this case fails as to all Plaintiffs." App 40-41.

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