No. 24-CV-0058

District of Columbia Court of Appeals



DAISY DIXON, *Appellant*

v.

JOHN PAUL MITCHELL SYSTEMS, Appellee

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Case No. 2023-CAB-004140

BRIEF OF APPELLEE JOHN PAUL MITCHELL SYSTEMS

Peter C. Nanov (DC Bar No. 230021) Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP 1909 K Street, N.W., Suite 900 Washington, D.C. 20006 202-467-8831 pcnanov@yorys.com *Stephen P. Benson**
Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP
909 Fannin Street, Suite 2700
Houston, TX 77010
312-858-3705
spbenson@vorys.com

**pro hac vice application forthcoming

Counsel for Appellee John Paul Mitchell Systems

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

Product at Issue; (2) interpreted D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(B) as requiring testing of the specific Product at Issue; (3) rejected Ms. Dixon's tortured construction of "tester standing;" and (4) dismissed her claims under the CPPA for failure to test the Product at Issue. The Superior Court properly applied the authority of the *Praxis* case and disregarded the non-controlling and non-applicable *Mostofi* case, among other cases relied upon by Ms. Dixon. The Superior Court further correctly rejected Ms. Dixon's argument that she be allowed to establish standing at a later date through an expert report. The Superior Court committed no reversible error by dismissing Ms. Dixon's claims. This court should affirm that dismissal.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

A. Standard of Review of a Trial Court's Dismissal of a Complaint

In Ms. Dixon's brief, she failed to address the standard of review for a dismissal under Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(1) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

See Dixon Brief at 14-15. "A 'defect of standing is [likewise] a defect in subject matter jurisdiction." UMC Dev., LLC v. District of Columbia, 120 A.3d 37, 43

(D.C. 2015) (quoting Haase v. Sessions, 835 F.2d 902, 906 (D.C. Cir. 1987)). The Superior Court ruled that Ms. Dixon lacked standing to assert her CPPA claims, thereby ruling that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear Ms. Dixon's claims.

See id. Consequently, the standard of review presented by Ms. Dixon, regarding a

dismissal under Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim, is irrelevant to Ms. Dixon's appeal.

"A question of subject matter jurisdiction under Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(1) concerns the court's authority to adjudicate the type of controversy presented by the case under consideration." *Grayson*, 15 A.3d at 228 n.11 (internal quotations omitted). "Whether the trial court has subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law which this court reviews *de novo*." *Id.* (quoting *Davis & Assocs. v. Williams*, 892 A.2d 1144, 1148 (D.C. 2006)). "[T]his court reviews legal questions of standing . . . *de novo*." *Off. of the People's Couns. for D.C. v. D.C. Water & Sewer Auth.*, 313 A.3d 579, 584 (D.C. 2024).

A complaint must be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(1) if the trial court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(1). "The burden of proving subject-matter jurisdiction ... falls on the party invoking [the court's] jurisdiction." *D.C. Water*, 313 A.3d at 590 n.2. "For purposes of ruling on a motion to dismiss for want of standing, both the trial and reviewing courts must accept as true all material allegations of the complaint, and must construe the complaint in favor of the complaining party." *Grayson*, 15 A.3d at 232 (quoting *Warth v. Seldin*, 422 U.S. 490, 501 (1975)).

B. Standard of Review for Statutory Interpretation

"[T]his court reviews legal questions of . . . statutory interpretation *de novo*." *D.C. Water*, 313 A.3d at 584. "In interpreting statutes, judicial tribunals seek to discern the intent of the legislature and, as necessary, whether that intent is consistent with fundamental principles of law." *Grayson*, 15 A.3d at 237.

In construing a statute the primary rule is to ascertain and give effect to legislative intent and to give legislative words their natural meaning; [s]hould effort be made to broaden the meaning of statutory language by mere inference or surmise or speculation, we might well defeat true [legislative] intent.

Id. at 237-38 (quoting *Banks v. United States*, 359 A.2d 8, 10 (D.C. 1976)) (emphasis added).

However, "[t]he words of a statute are 'a primary index but not the sole index to legislative intent'; the words 'cannot prevail over strong contrary indications in the legislative history" *Id.* at 238 (quoting *Citizens Ass'n of Georgetown v. Zoning Comm'n of D.C.*, 392 A.2d 1027, 1033 (D.C. 1978)).

[W]ords are inexact tools at best and for that reason there is wisely no rule of law forbidding resort to explanatory legislative history no matter how clear the words may appear on superficial examination.

Id. (quoting *Citizens Ass'n*, 392 A.2d at 1033)). This court "presume[s] [that the legislature] acted rationally and reasonably," and "eschew[s] interpretations that lead to unreasonable results." *Id.* (quoting *In re C.L.M.*, 766 A.2d 992, 996 (D.C. 2001)).

II. A Plaintiff Must Have Standing to Assert a Claim

"Standing is a threshold jurisdictional question which must be addressed prior to and independent of the merits of a party's claims." *Grayson*, 15 A.3d at 229 (quoting *Bochese v. Town of Ponce Inlet*, 405 F.3d 864, 974 (11th Cir. 2005)).

[The District of Columbia Court of Appeals] has followed the principles of standing, justiciability and mootness to promote sound judicial economy and has recognized that *an adversary system can best adjudicate real, not abstract, conflicts*.

Id. at 233 (citing District of Columbia v. Walters, 319 A.2d 332, 337 n.13 (D.C. 1974)) (emphasis added). "Through the years [the District of Columbia Court of Appeals'] cases consistently have followed the constitutional minimum of standing as articulated in Warth and Lujan." Id. at 235 (referring to Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490 (1975) and Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555 (1992)).

[The District of Columbia Court of Appeals has] followed Supreme Court developments in constitutional standing jurisprudence with respect to "whether the plaintiff has made out a case or controversy between him[/her] and the defendant within the meaning of Article III," and we generally have applied prudential limitations on the exercise of our jurisdiction.

Id. at 233-34 (quoting Consumer Fed'n of America v. Upjohn Co., 346 A.2d 725,727 (D.C. 1975)).

"The actual or threatened injury required by Art. III may exist solely by virtue of 'statutes creating legal rights, the invasion of which creates standing." *Id.* at 234 (quoting *Warth*, 422 U.S. at 500).

Constitutional standing under Article III requires the plaintiff to allege personal injury fairly traceable to the defendant's unlawful conduct and likely to be redressed by the requested relief. Out of prudential concerns, standing doctrine embraces several judicially self-imposed limits on the exercise . . . of jurisdiction, such as the general prohibition on a litigant's raising another person's legal rights. . .and the requirement that a plaintiff's complaint fall within the zone of interests protected by the law invoked.

Id. (quoting Exec. Sandwich Shoppe, Inc. v. Carr Realty Corp., 749 A.2d 724, 731(D.C. 2000)) (internal quotations and citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Traditionally, to have standing to bring a claim, a party must show that it has suffered "(1) an actual or imminent threat of injury (2) that is attributable to the defendant, and (3) that the injury is redressable through adjudication" ("Traditional Standing Elements"). *Riverside Hosp. v. D.C. Dep't of Health*, 944 A.2d 1098, 1104 (D.C. 2008). "[A] plaintiff seeking forward-looking relief, such as an injunction, must allege facts showing that the injunction is necessary to prevent injury otherwise likely to happen in the future." *Equal Rights Ctr. v. Props. Int'l*, 110 A.3d 599, 603 (D.C. 2015).

III. To Qualify for "Tester Standing" under the CPPA, the "Tester" Must Actually Test the Product

In *Grayson*, this court addressed the question of whether in the previous version of the CPPA, "the Council intended to disturb or override the constitutional doctrine of standing which we have applied for decades." *Grayson*, 15 A.3d at 235-36. This court concluded that:

without a clear expression of an intent by the Council to eliminate our constitutional standing requirement, we conclude that a lawsuit under the CPPA does not relieve a plaintiff of the requirement to show a concrete injury-in-fact to himself.

Id. at 244.

As noted by the Superior Court, in response to this court's ruling in *Grayson*, the Council amended the CPPA to "replace the single standing provision, which *Grayson* interpreted more narrowly with respect to suits by individuals, with four separate, independent standing provisions." App. at 38-39 (quoting Report on Bill 19-0581 at 4). As the Report noted:

New subsection (k)(1)(B) provides a right of action for *consumers* who act as product or service testers. Such consumers need not actually have been misled by a misrepresentation regarding a consumer good or service to have suffered an injury-in-fact giving rise to an actionable claim. As the amendment to section 3901(c) makes clear, the CPPA establishes an enforceable right to truthful information from merchants in their marketing of consumer goods and services. Subparagraph (B) authorizes these individuals to bring an action on their own behalf, for the good or service they purchased or received for the purpose of testing it without running afoul of a smattering of decisions denying standing based on notions of "self-inflicted harm" or "manufactured standing."

Report on Bill 19-0581 at 4 (emphasis added). Under the new Section 28-3905(k)(1)(B):

An individual may, on behalf of that individual, or on behalf of both the individual and the general public, bring an action seeking relief from the use of a trade practice in violation of a law of the District when that trade practice involves consumer goods or services that the individual purchased or received *in order to test or evaluate qualities* pertaining to use for personal, household, or family purposes. D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(B). (emphasis added).

This court has ruled that the post-*Grayson* amendments to the CPPA "did not displace Article III's requirements" with respect to the new Section 28-3905(k)(1)(*C*) and that plaintiffs initiating actions under that section must still meet the traditional Article III requirements. *Animal Legal Def. Fund v. Hormel Foods Corp.*, 258 A.3d 174, 182, 182 n.5, 190-91 (D.C. 2021). Section 28-3905(k)(1)(C) and Section 28-3905(k)(1)(B) are nearly identical except the former applies to nonprofit organizations while the latter applies to individuals. *See* D.C. Code §§ 28-3905(k)(1)(B), (C). Under this court's reasoning, therefore, a plaintiff pursuing a claim under Section 28-3905(k)(1)(B) must also still meet the traditional Article III requirements of standing. *See Animal Legal Def. Fund*, 258 A.3d at 182, 182 n.5, 190-91.

A nonprofit organization may, on behalf of itself or any of its members, or on any such behalf and on behalf of the general public, bring an action seeking relief from the use of a trade practice in violation of a law of the District, including a violation involving consumer goods or services that the organization purchased or received in order to test or evaluate qualities pertaining to use for personal, household, or family purposes.

D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(C).

⁵ New Section 28-3905(k)(1)(C) states, in its entirety:

Under the natural meaning of the new Section 28-3905(k)(1)(B), standing arises from the testing or evaluation of the product. D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(B). Put differently, testing or evaluation of the actual product at issue is necessary to establish standing under the CPPA. *See id*. To conclude otherwise would yield an unreasonable result, especially considering the legislative history. *See infra* Section V.

Interpreting D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(B) as to maintain traditional Article III standing requirements through the creation of a statutory injury, a "tester" plaintiff must, at the very least: (1) purchase or receive a product, (2) test or evaluate that product, and (3) the test or evaluation demonstrates that (4) a representation made by a merchant (5) violates Section 28-3904. *See Grayson*, 15 A.3d at 233-35; D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(B). Applying prudential standards and limitations on standing, the "tester" plaintiff must assert a real, rather than abstract, conflict that falls within the zone of interests protected by the CPPA, *i.e.*, show that the specific product purchased or received within the District of Columbia has been tested and revealed to demonstrate a violation of Section 28-3904. *See id.*The distinction between Article III or prudential requirements for standing does not control the outcome of this appeal because Ms. Dixon has demonstrated neither.

To qualify for "tester standing" under the CPPA, therefore, the individual must actually *test* the product at issue. *Praxis*, 2019 D.C. Super. LEXIS 17, at *22.

In *Praxis*, two pastors and a non-profit health advocate organization alleged that a soft drink manufacturer had violated the CPPA by making misleading representations about the nutritional content of its beverages. *Id.* at *3, 4. The plaintiffs alleged that they had purchased the manufacturer's beverages to evaluate and test the beverages' sugar content and potential effects on blood sugar. *Id.* Specifically, the plaintiffs' alleged "testing" or "evaluation" involved a review of the products' nutritional information printed on the label. *Id.* at *20-21.

The *Praxis* court began its analysis of the standing issue by noting that the *Praxis* plaintiffs' "Complaint contains *no specific allegations of any tests actually conducted*." *Id.* at *20 (emphasis added). The court then identified the importance of testing the *specific bottle of product at issue*, by stating:

As an initial matter, the Court is not persuaded that purchasing a product to obtain information printed on the label, the truth of which is *assumed* for the purposes of the "evaluation," rather than *at issue* (and that is clearly visible to the public and thus readily available without purchase) — *without any actual scientific or physical testing of the product* — would qualify as "testing" under the statute.

Id. at *22 (emphasis added). In other words, the alleged testing completed by the *Praxis* plaintiffs was so deficient and nonexistent that the *Praxis* plaintiffs could have accomplished the same thing without actually purchasing the product. The *Praxis* court then further detailed the deficiency of the *Praxis* plaintiffs' alleged testing:

Moreover, even assuming such "testing" would qualify, the alleged "testing" and "evaluation" that apparently occurred here is in no way related to the purpose alleged in the complaint, specifically, to "evaluate and test their purported qualities and characteristics, including but not limited to their sugar content and potential effects on blood sugar levels and Defendants' representation that a calorie of Coke is equivalent nutritionally to a calorie of any other food." Compl. ¶¶ 20, 22, 25. There was no scientific test to determine the actual sugar content, there was no test of its effects on blood sugar levels, and there was no evaluation of anything even remotely relevant to the question of whether "a calorie of Coke is nutritionally equivalent to a calorie of any other food."

Id. at *23 (emphasis added). In other words, there must be a nexus between the Product at Issue and the testing. *Id.* "[W]here no relevant testing or evaluation was actually done, the assertion of standing based on testing . . . fails." *Id.* at *24.6

_

Plaintiffs argue that because Valisure's test of three lots of the Product revealed the presence of benzene, there is a risk that all the lots of the Product contained benzene, and therefore the Product that they purchased did contain or likely contained benzene. These allegations support the reasonable inference that, assuming the results of Valisure's test are true and accurate, there is a general risk that some members of the public may have suffered a financial injury by purchasing the Product. But absent allegations that the Product they purchased was from one of the tested lots, these allegations are not particularized to show that Plaintiffs suffered more than an abstract risk of similar financial injury. For these reasons, Plaintiffs lack standing to seek damages for their claims.

⁶ The United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois recently dismissed a claim brought against JPMS because the plaintiffs in that matter, who also relied upon testing by Valisure, failed to allege that, and failed to otherwise test to determine whether, the specific product that they had purchased contained benzene. Memorandum Opinion and Order at 5-6, *Nelson, et al. v. John Paul Mitchell Systems*, No. 1:22-cv-06364 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 23, 2024) (ECF 50). The court stated:

IV. The Superior Court Did Not Err When It Concluded that Ms. Dixon Lacks Standing to Assert Her Claims under the CPPA

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